## American Handbook of Psychiatry

# DEPRESSIVE NEUROSIS

# **A**ARON **T. B**ECK

## **DEPRESSIVE NEUROSIS**

Aaron T. Beck

#### e-Book 2016 International Psychotherapy Institute

From American Handbook of Psychiatry: Volume 3 Silvano Arieti

Copyright © 1974 by Silvano Arieti and Eugene B. Brody

All Rights Reserved

Created in the United States of America

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **DEPRESSIVE NEUROSIS**

The Clinical Picture

**Classification of Affective Forces** 

**Course and Prognosis** 

Measurement of Depression

Psychoanalytic Theories of Depression

**Cognitive Theories of Depression** 

**Behavioral Theories of Depression** 

Sociological and Demographic Aspects of Depression

**Biological Approaches to Depression** 

**Bibliography** 

### **DEPRESSIVE NEUROSIS**

#### Aaron T. Beck

#### **The Clinical Picture**

Depression, one of the major health problems of today, is the most common psychiatric disorder treated in office practice and outpatient clinics. The study of depression is important, not only because of the human misery it causes, but because its by-product, suicide, is a leading cause of death in certain age groups.

Until the past century, depression was described under the label of "melancholia." In the second century a.d., Plutarch vividly described the melancholic as a man who "dares not employ any means of averting or of remedying the evil, lest he be found fighting against the gods." He drives away his friends and physician and "rolls naked in the dirt confessing about this and that sin." Pinel, at the beginning of the nineteenth century, described the symptoms of depression as "taciturnity, a thoughtful pensive air, gloomy suspicions, and a love of solitude."

These accounts are remarkably similar to modern textbook descriptions of depression. The symptoms used to diagnose depression

today are found in the ancient descriptions of disturbed mood, selfblame, self-debasing behavior, wish to die, physical symptoms, and delusions of having committed unforgiveable sin.

There are few psychiatric disorders whose clinical descriptions are so constant throughout history. Because the disturbed feelings are usually a striking manifestation of depression, psychiatrists have generally tended to regard this condition as a "primary mood disorder." This designation is misleading, since there are many components of depression other than emotional deviation, and in some cases depressed patients do not report feeling sad or apathetic.

An inpidual who describes his mood as "depressed" may be referring to normal sadness. On the surface, pathological depression may appear to be an intense, exaggerated form of sadness accompanied by anorexia, insomnia, fatigue, and other symptoms. While depression is regarded by some authorities as a discrete disease entity based on biological disorder, others believe that depression and sadness are two extremes on a continuum of mood reactions.

The key factor in diagnosing depression is *change* in the psychobiological systems— changes involving emotion, motivation, cognition, physiology, and behavior.

A sample of 966 psychiatric patients was studied by the Beck Depression Inventory and semi-structured interviews by experienced psychiatrists to determine the differentiating characteristics of depressed patients. The signs and symptoms listed below occurred from two to ten times more frequently among depressed than non-depressed patients.

*Emotional:* Sadness or apathy; crying spells; self-dislike; loss of gratification; loss of feelings of affection; loss of sense of humor.

*Cognitive:* Negative self-concept; negative expectations; exaggerated view of problems; attribution of blame to self.

*Motivational:* Increased dependency; loss of motivation; avoidance; indecisiveness; suicidal wishes.

*Physical and Vegetative:* Loss of appetite; sleep disturbance; fatigability; loss of sexual interest.

#### **Emotional changes**

The emotional changes which accompany depression must be viewed in the context of the inpidual's premorbid behavior and mood level, as well as what might be considered the "norm" in the patient's age,

sex, and social group. For example, crying spells in a patient who rarely cried before becoming depressed might point to a greater level of depression than it would in a patient who habitually cried even before the depression.

Beck found that 88 percent of severely depressed psychiatric patients versus 23 percent of non-depressed psychiatric patients reported some degree of unhappiness or sadness. Though the dejected mood is sometimes couched in somatic terms, such as a lump in the throat or an empty feeling in the stomach, terms such as "miserable," "blue," or "downhearted" are generally used. Of course, inpiduals who are in no way clinically depressed may use these adjectives; the dejected mood may range from feelings of mild, transitory sadness to a profound feeling of hopelessness and worry. The *dysphoric* emotions may also stem from a patient's feelings about himself; that is, he may feel useless or disappointed in himself.

Loss of gratification, at first involving only a few activities and later encompassing almost everything the patient does, is a distressing feature of depression. Social activities and biological drives are not spared. Saul noted that demands from activities involving responsibility and productivity (for example, college assignments) may upset the "give-get balance." Initially, the imbalance may be corrected by recreational

activities. In more advanced depressions, however, even passive, regressive activities fail to provide gratification.

Loss of gratification is usually accompanied by reduction of emotional attachments to other people or activities. A decline in the degree of affection for family members may worry a patient and cause him to seek professional help. Some patients have described this feeling as a "wall" between themselves and others. In some cases, love is replaced by apathy or resentment. In an analysis of suicide notes, Bjerg reported that 81 percent of the writers had unfulfilled wishes (other than suicidal).

Depressed women in particular are likely to experience increased periods of crying. Some patients with recurrent depressions mark the onset of depression by a sudden impulse to weep. However, the severely depressed inpidual may find that he cannot cry even though he wants to.

Many depressed patients report that they have lost their sense of humor. Rather than having lost the ability to perceive the "punchline" of a joke, the depressed patient seems instead to have lost the ability to respond emotionally to humor; in short, he does not feel like laughing. Nussbaum and Michaux found that their clinical ratings of improvement of depression correlated well with improvements in the affective response to riddles and jokes.

#### **Cognitive Changes**

Although thought disorders are traditionally associated with schizophrenia and paranoia, recent work has uncovered systematic distortions of reality in depression. These findings may cast doubt on the classification of depression as a primary mood disorder and may also provide clues for the treatment of the disease.

The cognitive manifestations of depression include the patient's distorted views of himself, his world, and his future. I have called this group of thoughts the "cognitive triad." Low self-evaluation, distortions of body image, negative expectations, self-blame, and indecisiveness are characteristic cognitive changes.

Depressed inpiduals view themselves as deficient in qualities that they consider important: popularity, intelligence, physical attractiveness, ability, or financial resources. This sense of personal inadequacy is reflected by complaints of deprivation of love or material possessions. The depressed inpidual finds evidence of his own worthlessness in every experience and feels compelled to blame himself for his faults.

Pessimism and a gloomy outlook on life have been found to

correlate highly with suicidal tendencies. Depressed patients believe that their present state of deprivation is irreversible, and 75 percent of them believe they will never recover. A negative view of the self and the future was found to be highly correlated with depression and dissipated when the depression improved. Engel described the "helplessnesshopelessness" axis in depression—the patient cannot help himself and is unlikely to be helped by outside forces. Wohlford found that depressed patients see the future as highly constricted.

The depressive blames adverse experiences on some deficiency within himself, and then he criticizes himself for having the alleged defect. In the severe state, he may view himself as a criminal or social leper and is prone to blame himself for events that are in no way connected with him. He makes statements such as, "I'm responsible for the violence and suffering in the world."

Vacillation, difficulty in making decisions, and changing decisions are also prominent in the depressive. Several factors contribute to the indecisiveness: (1) the patient anticipates making an incorrect decision, and (2) he would rather evade the situation than go through the mental operations required to make conclusions.

Another cognitive aberration is the patient's distorted image of his

physical appearance. This characteristic is found more frequently in depressed women. The patient regards herself as ugly and repulsive, and she may even expect people to turn away from her in disgust.

#### **Motivational Changes**

The typical motivations of the depressed patient are "regressive" in nature. He seeks activities that are the least demanding for him (either in terms of the amount of energy required or the degree of responsibility involved). His wishes to escape may carry him to the point of suicidal wishes, and his desire to shun responsibility may lead him to abandon his family, friends, and vocation.

Another common manifestation of depression is the desire to withdraw from the routine things in life. The depressed person regards his tasks as boring and meaningless and wishes to seek refuge from them; thus, the housewife yearns to leave her daily chores, the clerk longs to get away from his paperwork, the student dreams of faraway places. To the severely depressed inpidual even the most elementary tasks, such as eating or taking medication, seem to be overwhelming. Although he is aware of what he should do, he does not experience any internal stimulus to do it. In short, a "paralysis of the will" sets in.

Increased dependency has also been noted in some depressed

patients, and accentuation of dependency has been assigned a major etiological role in some theories of depression. Dependency, in our sense of the word, refers to the desire for help rather than the process of relying on someone else. Receiving guidance appears to carry special emotional significance and is often gratifying to the depressive.

#### **Physical and Vegetative Changes**

Behavioral manifestations in themselves can often lead to a diagnosis of depression.

Most persons who are depressed have sad facial expressions (though some may hide their feelings behind a cheerful mask in "smiling depression"), and women, in particular, tend to weep often. Another characteristic of the depressive is a stooped posture. In retarded depression, movements are slow and calculated, verbal output decreases, and the level of spontaneous actions diminishes. The severe state may even be characterized by stupor or semi-stupor. The agitated patient, on the other hand, is incessantly active and restless. While retardation appears to be a reflection of passivity, agitation seems to be a fight against actual and anticipated torture and pain.

Loss of appetite, which may result in substantial weight loss, loss of sexual responses, and sleep disturbance with early morning wakening,

are also included in the physical and vegetative symptoms of depression. Loss of motivation and escapism seem to be associated with increased fatigue, which correlates highly with lack of gratification and pessimism.

The vegetative symptoms of depression are considered by some writers to be signs of "vital depression" and are viewed as evidence that a biological disorder is the basis of depression.' However, this theory may be erroneous, since the physical symptoms do not correlate well with each other or with the clinical ratings of the depth of depression. Furthermore, the somatic symptoms may be a manifestation rather than a cause of the disorder.

#### **Classification of Affective Forces**

In the nomenclature of the American Psychiatric Association's *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual* (DSM-II), involutional melancholia and manic-depressive illness are categorized as "major affective disorders." These two forms of depression are distinguished from the depressive neuroses and psychotic depressive reactions in that they do not seem to be precipitated by life stresses.

The diagnostic label "involutional melancholia" has practically disappeared from recent clinical reports and research, and DSM-II recommends that the diagnosis be given only if other types of affective illness do not apply. The other "major affective disorder" included in DSM-II is manic-depressive illness, which is subpided into manic, depressed, and circular types. Extreme mood swings, recurrence, and remission characterize the illness. While the manic type consists exclusively of manic episodes with accelerated motor activity and speech, extreme elation, and irritability, the depressed type is marked by mental and motor inhibition. A patient with the circular type of manic-depressive illness may alternate between these two extremes and has experienced at least one manic and one depressive episode.

Perris suggested that bipolar and unipolar depressive psychoses are two separate disorders. Manic and depressive phases characterize the bipolar cases, while the unipolar are marked by depressive episodes only. According to Perris, the two groups differed in terms of age, personality traits, course of illness, response to ECT, flicker threshold, and color-form preference.

Some writers have distinguished types of depression by the way patients react to external events. Gillespie studied several groups of depressed inpiduals and labelled those who responded favorably to environmental influences as "reactive." The cases which showed no response to encouragement or favorable stimuli were labelled "autonomous." Another pision is that of agitated vs. retarded depression.

In this case, the disorder is classified according to the predominant activity level.

The unitary school does not believe in a sharp pision between neurotic and psychotic depressions, or between reactive and endogenous depressions. These writers maintain that the distinctions between the two groups are quantitative rather than qualitative in nature.

In the literature, there has been a tendency for psychotic depression to be associated with endogenous depression, while neurotic depression is associated with exogenous (reactive) depression. These distinctions have etiological connotations: endogenous refers to cases caused by some biological disorder, and exogenous refers to those caused by external stress. The former includes involutional melancholia and manic-depressive psychosis, and the latter consists of psychogenic, neurotic, or reactive depressions.

#### **Factor Analyses of Depressive Phenomena**

Many investigators believe that the isolation of "types" or subgroups of depression is necessary before the essential nature of affective disorders can be revealed. Some recent research has been directed to the question of whether the symptomatology of depression is unitary in nature, or whether it represents an intricate pattern of related

but mutually exclusive syndromes.

The development of techniques for measuring depression has led to attempts to classify depressive phenomena by factor analysis. After quantitative scores on inpidual test items are intercorrelated and a correlation matrix is prepared, factors are rotated until they are isolated. In some cases, each isolated factor is tested for orthogonality (independence) and ranked according to the magnitude of factor loadings with respect to a particular test instrument. The so-called major factors are given unitary labels which are purported to imply clinical significance.

Several factor analyses of rating scales and depressive symptom inventories have been reported. Hamilton' factor-analyzed his depression scale and extracted six orthogonal factors, the first four of which he called "retarded depression," "agitated depression," "anxiety reaction," and "psychopathic depression."

Grinker et al. studied the intercorrelations of checklists labeled "current behavior" and "feelings and concerns." The data yielded five factors from the feelings and concerns list and ten factors from the current behavior list. When all fifteen factors were combined, four patterns emerged which characterized depression as "retarded empty,"

"anxious," "hypochondriacal," or "angry."

The following orthogonal factors were reported by Overall: (1) depression in mood; (2) guilt; (3) psychomotor retardation; (4) anxiety; (5) subjective experience of impairment in functioning; (6) extreme preoccupation with physical health; and (7) physical reaction to stress.

Another study of depressed patients yielded five orthogonal factors. Friedman et al. described these factors as (1) "classical mood or affective depression with guilt, loss of esteem, doubting, and psychological internalizing;" "retarded, withdrawn, apathetic depression;" (3) "a primarily biological reaction characterized by a loss of appetite, sleep disturbance, constipation, work inhibition and loss of satisfaction;" and (4) "oral demanding depression," which was defined as a "querulous hypochondriacal type."

Two factors were extracted in another factor analysis of a depressive symptoms checklist. Besides a general factor of depression, the authors obtained a bipolar factor that distinguished between endogenous depression and exogenous (neurotic) depression. Carney et al. later extracted a third factor called "paranoid psychotic." The bipolar factor was found to correlate highly with a "general factor of endogenous depression" reported by Rosenthal and Klerman. In a factor analysis of the Beck Depression Inventory, four patterns were reported: (1) "guilty depression;" (2) "retardation;" "somatic disturbance;" and (4) "tearful depression."

Other studies' used the Ward Behavior Rating Scale, the Inventory of Somatic Complaints, and a mood scale which was compiled by the researchers from several sources. Significant correlation clusters, such as "friendliness" and "carefree" were extracted, but seemed to be unrelated to depression. These clusters may indicate that a more well-defined list of factors is isolated with instruments which sample a wider range of behavioral traits.

Paykel classified depressed inpiduals according to a special cluster analysis procedure. The findings indicated a hierarchy of groups. The first level consisted of two groups, one older and more severely depressed, and one younger and more mildly depressed. Subsequent pision of these categories produced four approximate groups. One was characterized by severe illness and corresponded to psychotic depressives as described in the literature. A second group consisted of moderately depressed patients with high neuroticism scores and anxiety. The third group of depressives had a considerable element of hostility, and the last group, comprised of young patients, were mildly depressed with backgrounds of personality disorder.

The factor analytic studies described thus far have dealt with questionnaires, rating scales, and symptom inventories. Weckowicz et al. have attempted to relate the factors obtained from intercorrelation of clinical evaluations, symptoms, and complaints, to measures of psychomotor and physical functions. Patients were administered the Beck Depression Inventory, objective psychomotor tests, the Shagass sedation threshold test, amount of salivation tests, and autonomic nervous system activity tests. Twenty first-order factors and six secondorder factors were derived. Of the seven canonical correlations found, the first was a pattern of bodily complaints and somatization, and the second was a pattern of guilt, anxiety, and depressed mood. Two other patterns were indicated, the first consisting of psychomotor retardation with symptoms of atypical depression; the second characterized by psychomotor retardation with disturbance in the autonomic nervous system and typical depression. Two other canonical correlations emerged which suggested depression in an involutional setting with anxiety prominent in one pattern and guilt in the other.

#### **Course and Prognosis**

The onset of depression is generally well defined. In most cases, the symptoms progressively increase in severity until they "bottom out" and then steadily improve until the episode is over. While the intervals

between attacks are generally free of depressive symptoms, there is a trend toward recurrence.

Rates of complete recovery from affective disorders range from 80 to 95 percent.' Younger patients have the highest recovery rate—in one study, g2 percent of patients less than thirty years of age recovered, while the rate was 75 percent in the thirty to forty age group.

Studies relevant to the duration of depressive episodes vary, partly because of differences in methodology and diagnostic criteria. Lundquist found a median duration of 6.3 months in patients younger than thirty, and 8.7 months for those older than thirty. He reported no significant difference between men and women in regard to duration. Rennie's results were similar: the first episode lasted an average of 6.5 months. The average duration of hospitalization, according to Rennie, was 2.5 months. Paskind studied non-hospitalized depressives and found the median duration to be three months.

In regard to duration of multiple episodes of depression, earlier studies suggested that there is a tendency toward prolongation of episodes with each successive attack. More recent studies by Paskind and Lundquist however, found no significant increase in duration with recurrences.

Variations relevant to frequency of recurrence among depressives are also reported in the literature. Rennie found that 79 percent of hospitalized depressives subsequently had a relapse. Stenstedt and Lundquist, however, reported respectively, 47 percent and 49 percent incidence of recurrence. Rennie's more stringent diagnostic criteria probably account for his higher percentage of recurrences. In his series, more than half of the depressives had three or more relapses.

Recurrences of depressive episodes may occur after years of apparent good health; Kraepelin reported a recurrence 40 years after recovery from an initial episode of depression. Rennie found that the highest percentage of relapses occurred ten to twenty years following the initial depression. Kraepelin found that with each successive relapse, the symptom-free intervals tended to become shorter. This trend was also observed by Paskind.

#### Suicide

Depressive episodes may end in suicide; however, the actual risk of suicide among depressed patients is difficult to establish because of problems in determining cause of death. Rennie and Lundquist reported that approximately five percent of patients diagnosed as depressive later committed suicide. A more recent study however, found that 14 percent of patients diagnosed as psychotic depressive died from suicide.

Pokorny studied the suicide rate among former psychiatric patients in a Texas veterans' hospital. He found the suicide rate for depressed patients to be twenty-five times the expected rate and substantially higher than the rate among patients with other psychiatric disorders. Temoche et al. found that the suicide rate for depressives was about three times higher than that of schizophrenics and alcoholics, and thirtysix times higher than that of the general population. The risk of suicide is greatest during weekend leaves from the hospital and shortly after discharge from the hospital. Temoche et al. reported that half of the suicides they studied occurred within eleven months after discharge.

The best indication of a suicidal risk appears to be the communication of suicidal intent. Thus, the idea that the person who talks about suicide will never carry out his wishes is a fiction. In addition, an unsuccessful suicidal attempt greatly increases the chances of a successful attempt some time in the future.

#### **Measurement of Depression**

Rating scales and self-report measures can be extremely useful tools in the research and treatment of depression, especially when one considers the inherent difficulties in obtaining consistent diagnoses. One such scale, designed to measure the psychological, physiological, and behavioral manifestations of depression, was developed by Beck et al. and factor-analyzed repeatedly. Three studies' reported relatively high correlations between the Depression Inventory and clinicians' ratings of depression. The Depression Inventory discriminated among groups of patients with varying degrees of depression. The scale also reflects changes in the severity of depression following an interval of time.

Similar scales have been reported by Hamilton, Wechsler et al., and Zung. Hamilton's scale has been used for assessing depression in medical inpatients, and for measuring psychiatric inpatients' reactions to antidepressant medications. Another scale by Humphrey is a combination of some of Zung's items and some of his own, which were designed to assess functional disturbances resulting from depression, such as performance at work.

Some instruments which were developed to measure general pathology include items on depression. Examples are the Malamud-Sands Psychiatric Rating Scales, the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory, the Lorr Multi-Dimensional Scale, and the Wittenborn Scales. These general scales are usually considered inadequate for purposes of research or therapy in the specific area of depression. The MMPI, for example, is based on the old psychiatric nomenclature, and factor

analytic studies reveal that its Depression Scale contains only one heterogeneous factor which is consistent with the clinical concept of depression.

Other instruments, such as the Lubin Scale and the Clyde Mood Scale, are examples of adjective checklists designed to measure depression alone or in combination with other mood states. One advantage of the Lubin Scale is the incorporation of a number of parallel versions.

#### **Psychoanalytic Theories of Depression**

The early psychoanalytic view of depression was primarily a description of the interaction between drives and affects, such as feelings of loss, guilt, and orality. In his writings of 1911 and 1916, Abraham postulated that the depressive's capacity for affection is undermined by feelings of hatred and hostility brought about by unsatisfied sexual desires. Unable to love, the depressive's hostility is turned inward by means of reverse projection, i.e., "I am hated because of my defects." He tends to be irritable, seeks revenge, and feels intense guilt. In his later works, Abraham supported Freud's ideas regarding pregenital sexuality, and suggested that the refusal to eat could be explained by the unconscious wish to eat up the love object. To document his thesis,

Abraham described several patients who continued to associate sexual gratification with the act of eating.

Freud's paper of 1917, "Mourning and Melancholia," analyzes depression in analogy to normal grief. While both reactions may be the result of a lost love object, in melancholia the loss occurs within the ego. The depressive's hostility toward the lost love object is manifested in his self-accusations. The ego is identified with the abandoned object and feelings of aggression towards the object cause the melancholic to feel deep guilt. A marked decrease in self-esteem, which distinguishes depression from normal mourning, develops in an attempt to punish the incorporated object. The widely accepted role of "anger-in" in the development of depression is largely an outgrowth of Freud's concept of hostility turned inward.

Abraham expands on some of Freud's formulations and draws upon his concept of the psychosexual stages of development. According to Abraham, the depressive's development is fixed at the oral stage, due to an inherited predisposition to oral eroticism and childhood disappointments in love. In his comparison of manic-depressive psychosis and obsessional neurosis, Abraham noted that the obsessional tries to retain his loved object while the melancholic expels the object which has disappointed him. The depressive may then try to repossess

the lost object orally and sadistically punishes it within him.

Depression is described by Rado as "a great despairing cry for love." He wrote that the depressive is an inpidual with a precarious selfconcept and a narcissistic need for approval. When the love object is lost, the depressive's first reaction is that of rebellious anger; when the rebellion fails, he tries to recapture his self-esteem through the punishment of the ego by the superego. Because of his aggressive nature, the depressed inpidual believes that he is to blame for his loss; simultaneously, however, he blames the "bad part" of the love object in his ego. The internal conflict between the good and bad parts of the introjected object result in guilt and self-reproach.

Melanie Klein theorized that predisposition to depression is rooted in the mother-child relationship in the first year of life, rather than in a series of traumatic experiences. The weak ego of the deprived infant is susceptible to sadness, helplessness, and frustration ("the depressive position"), and there is a failure to build up a strong self-concept independent of the mother's affection. Klein also depicted the dependent infant's unconscious fantasies of sadism.

While Rado described depression as a "cry for love," Fenichel characterizes depressives as "love addicts," whose self-esteem is

generated by external supplies. Depression is the attempt to coerce the orally incorporated object to return the supplies upon which self-esteem depends, and also to grant protection, forgiveness, security, and love. Like other psychoanalytic writers, Fenichel views depression in adults as a repetition of the "primal depression" in early childhood experience.

Recent psychoanalytic thinkers de-emphasize the drive theory and concentrate on the ego states. Bibring, for example, emphasized the loss of self-esteem within the ego, and viewed helplessness to achieve goals as the primary characteristic of depression. According to Bibring, the disorder is the "emotional correlate of a partial or complete collapse of the self-esteem of the ego, since it feels unable to live up to its aspirations while they are strongly maintained." The three major areas of aspiration are the wish to be loved and valued, the desire to be strong and secure, and the wish to be loving and good. Depression results when these goals are not realized, and the conflict occurs within the ego rather than between the superego and the ego.

Edith Jacobson's ideas are an outgrowth of Bibring's ego-centered views, with loss of self-esteem as the central feature of depression. She states that self-esteem represents the degree of discrepancy between "ego ideal" and "self-representation." In an attempt to delineate the nature of ego regression in depression, Jacobson theorized that early

disappointment and its concomitant self-reproach occur in the early life of a depressive. The prepsychotic personality is extremely defensive and cannot tolerate disappointment. The depressive responds to hurt with denial; when this and other mechanisms fail, the self withdraws from reality and becomes helpless and childlike.

In his historical picture of psychoanalytic theories of depression, Gaylin traced the emphasis on decreased self-esteem back to Freud's formulation of the lost love object. According to Gaylin, the loss of selfesteem is a loss of self-confidence which occurs with deprivation or disappointment.

Similarly, Engel described the "giving-up-given-up complex," including these characteristics: (1) helplessness or hopelessness—the effects of giving up; (2) depreciated self-image; (3) lack of gratification from roles or relationships; (4) lack of continuity between past, present, and future; and (5) reactivation of memories of previous periods of giving up.

Relevant criticisms have been directed at some of the psychoanalytic theories described above. Mendelson, for example, has pointed to their tendency to incorporate all psychological behavior into a single vast formula, thus overly simplifying a complicated problem. The

formula is often derived from insufficient data, and the emphasis on very early childhood events is a shortcoming. Not enough attention is paid to events in later life, and empirical validation is scanty. Also, rather than using data to arrive at a theory, analysts have been prone to interpret data to support the a priori theory. One hypothesis in psychodynamics, however, has been subject to systematic study; namely, the relation of "object loss" to depression.

#### **Parental Deprivation and Depression**

Many authors have commented on the relationship between early parental separation and the subsequent development of depression. This area of research has been characterized by discrepancies among various studies; for example, the inclusion of endogenous or manic-depressive groups may color the findings. In addition, control data are often absent or inadequate since rates of childhood bereavement in the general population may vary widely.

Brown found a significant relationship between parental deprivation (particularly paternal) in childhood and adult depression. Forty-one percent of the depressed adults he studied had lost a parent before the age of fifteen, while the incidence of orphanhood in England's general population was 12 percent. In a control group of 267 medical

patients, the incidence of early orphanhood was 19.6 per cent. However, the use of medical patients as controls in this and other studies has been questioned, since depressive symptoms are quite common in medical inpatients.

In a group of 297 depressed patients studied to determine the relationship of orphanhood to depression, 27 percent of severely depressed patients were found to have lost a parent before age sixteen, while the non-depressed group had an incidence of 12 percent.

Birk compared 331 depressed outpatients with 296 medical patients and found a significantly greater number of orphans among the depressives. Dennehy reported that depressed females had an excess of paternal loss while depressed males had an excess of maternal loss. Since Dennehy, Birk, and Brown used the 1921 British Census as their source of control data, the comparability of their controls to depressed patients has been questioned by Munro.

Parent-child separation does not appear to be a significant factor in endogenous depression: Gay and Tonge report that parental loss is more frequent in psychogenic than in endogenous depression. No comparison was made with normal controls. Hill and Price compared depressives with other psychiatric patients; they report no excess of maternal loss,

but a significant excess in paternal loss.

Munro suggested that parental deprivation could be related to the *severity* of the depression. This finding was also reported by Wilson, Alltop, and Buffaloe.

These positive findings seem impressive, but there have been studies which failed to establish any significant relationship between separation and depression. Pitts et al. found no significant association between psychiatric illness and childhood bereavement; however, problems arise in the interpretation of this study, due to the aforementioned problems of using medical inpatients as control. It would be necessary, in these cases, to control for the presence of depression in non-psychiatric groups.

A systematic comparison of psychiatric diagnoses and parental loss was made by Gregory using MMPI high points and clinical diagnoses. No significant correlation between any diagnostic group and parental loss was established. Negative findings have also been reported by Brill and Liston.

In a study of 152 depressed patients matched with controls, Abraham and Whitlock found no significant difference in childhood loss of one or both parents. The authors claim that it was not the physical loss

of the parent, but rather the poor interaction between child and parent or between both parents that may have caused the depression.

Further research is necessary before the etiological relationship of parental loss in childhood to adult depression can be definitely established.

#### Life Stress and Depression

Much of the literature on depression has attempted to assess the relationship between life events and depression. While Freud attributed depression to the loss of a loved object, Bibring emphasized the loss of self-esteem in his theory of depression. More recently, other investigators have attempted to define as endogenous those depressions that occur without an actual loss.

Since we have little satisfactory data regarding the incidence of stressful life events in the general population, carefully controlled studies in this area have been scarce. The following three groups of authors have used medical inpatients as control groups: Forrest et al., Hudgens et al., and Morrison et al.

Forrest et al. compared 158 depressives with 58 controls. In the three years prior to hospitalization, depressed patients had an excess of

stress factors. Hudgens and associates compared 40 hospitalized depressives with 40 hospitalized medical controls and found stressful events to be infrequent in the six months preceding onset of illness. Since patients were excluded if their symptoms disappeared in a few days with the removal of stress, a selective definition of depression was used. A later study by the same group of authors also found few differences between the depressed group and the control group. However, these findings may be questioned, due to the fact that life events are frequently associated with other physical illnesses, and depression occurs among medical inpatients.

While the three studies mentioned above used medical controls, Paykel et al. used controls from the general population. On the average, the depressed group reported almost three times as many life stresses in the six months preceding onset of illness as did the controls. Paykel's findings suggest that certain kinds of events on the Holmes and Rahe Social Readjustment Rating Scale, such as increase in arguments with spouse, marital separation, new job, etc., are more likely than others to occur prior to a depressive episode. Exits from the social field preceded clinical depression significantly more frequently than did entrances. Desirable events (marriage, promotion, engagement) were more common in the control group than in the depressives. The familiar psychoanalytic theme of a lost love object, then, is supported by these

findings.

#### **Cognitive Theories of Depression**

Depression may be viewed in terms of the activation of three major cognitive patterns that lead the inpidual to see himself, his surroundings, and his future in an idiosyncratic manner. The content of these patterns revolves around the themes of loss and deprivation.

The first component of the "cognitive triad" is the negative view of self: deprived, defective, or defeated. The depressed inpidual regards himself as lacking in gratification, inadequate, or worthless. He believes that he is undesirable and rejects himself because of his alleged defects. The second component is the negative view of experiences. The patient interprets all of his interactions with his environment as representative of deprivation and defeat. Finally, the negative view of the future permeates his ideation. As he looks ahead, the patient sees an indefinite continuation of his present difficulties and a life of unremitting deprivation, frustration, and hardship.

The other phenomena of depression may be considered as consequences of the activation of the negative cognitive patterns. The affective group of depressive symptoms (feeling sad, hopeless, lonely, bored) can be analyzed in terms of these negative concepts. If a patient

simply *thinks* he is being rejected, he will react with the same negative affect that occurs with actual rejection. Similarly, if the inpidual believes he is a social outcast, he will feel lonely.

The motivational changes in depression (paralysis of the will, suicidal wishes, increased dependency, and escapist and avoidance wishes) are also related to cognition. "Paralysis of the will" may be considered as a result of the patient's pessimism and hopelessness; since he expects a negative outcome, he is reluctant to commit himself to a goal or undertaking. Conversely, when he is persuaded that he can succeed at a particular task, he may be stimulated to pursue it.

Avoidance and escapist wishes are also outcomes of the negative expectations. Suicidal wishes are an extreme expression of the desire to escape from what appear to be insoluble problems or an unbearable situation. Since he sees himself as a worthless burden, the depressed patient believes that everyone, including himself, will be better off when he is dead.

Increased dependency may also be attributed to negative concepts. The patient sees himself as inept and undesirable; he tends to overestimate the difficulty of normal tasks in life, and expects things to turn out badly. Under these circumstances, many patients yearn for help
from other persons whom they consider to be strong.

Some of the physical correlates of depression may be related to cognitive patterns. Profound motor inhibition appears to be associated with the negative view of the self. When a patient can be encouraged to initiate an activity, however, the retardation and the subjective sense of fatigue are reduced.

How does an inpidual form the concepts that predispose him to depression? Early in life, a child develops many attitudes about himself and his surroundings. Some of these concepts are realistic and facilitate healthy adjustment, while others deviate from reality and make the inpidual vulnerable to possible psychological disorders.

Since the formation of the three types of concepts central to depression (those regarding the self, the world, and the future) is similar, we can use the example of self-concepts as a model for the other two.

An inpidual's self-concepts are clusters of favorable and unfavorable attitudes derived from his personal experiences, from his identification with significant others, and from the attitudes of others towards him. Once a particular concept is formed, it may influence subsequent judgments. Each negative judgment, for instance, tends to reinforce the negative attitude toward the self. Thus a cycle is set up. If this negative concept persists, it becomes an enduring structure in the inpidual's cognitive organization.

The vulnerability of the depression-prone inpidual is a result of these enduring negative concepts. Although the schemas may be latent at a given time, they are activated by particular kinds of circumstances and consequently may lead to a full-blown depression. Situations reminiscent of the experience responsible for embedding a negative attitude may trigger a depression. For instance, disruption of a marital situation may light up the idea of an irreversible loss that followed death of a parent in childhood.

Situations that lower a person's self-esteem (such as failing an examination or being fired from a job) are frequent precipitators of depression. Another type of precipitating event involves thwarting of important goals or confrontation with an "insoluble" problem. Depression may also be triggered by a physical abnormality or disease that activates the notion that the patient can never have a happy life.

While any of these circumstances might be painful to the average person, they would not cause a depression, unless the person is particularly sensitive to the situation because of his specific predepressive constellation. While a normal inpidual may experience

such a trauma and be able to maintain interest in other aspects of life, the depression-prone person experiences such a constriction of his cognitive field that he is hit by negative ideas about everything in life. It should be noted that depression is often the result of a series of stressful situations rather than one particular situation.

Depressions, as they occur in the preceding description, are due to *specific stress* situations. However, an inpidual may develop a depression when exposed to a *nonspecific stress* situation of overwhelming proportion, or a series of traumatic events. Depending on the content of the predisposing factors, stress situations may lead to depression or to other pathological reactions, such as paranoid reaction, psychosomatic disorders, etc., or no psychological disorder at all.

To clarify further the relationship between cognition and affect, it is necessary to explore how depressive thinking becomes dominant, and why the patient seems to cling to his painful attitudes, despite the evidence of positive factors in his life.

In conceptualizing any life situation composed of many stimuli, an inpidual extracts certain aspects and combines them into a specific pattern. Different people reach dissimilar conclusions, but a particular inpidual tends to be consistent in his responses to similar types of events.

A cognitive *structure* is a more or less permanent component of the cognitive organization, while a cognitive *process* is transient. The term "schema" has been generally used in the literature on cognition. A schema is used for screening out, differentiating, and coding the stimuli that confront the inpidual. Through the matrix of schemas, he orients himself in relation to space and time, and categorizes and evaluates his experiences. When a person is faced by a particular stimulus, a schema related to the stimulus is activated. The data are molded into cognitions, which are defined as any mental activity with verbal content. A schema may be applied to a small pattern involved in a concrete conceptualization, such as tying a shoelace, or to large patterns, such as self-concepts or prejudice.

Although a schema may be inactive at a given time, it is activated when energized. A specific schema can be energized or de-energized by rapid changes in the environmental inputs. The content of a schema is usually a generalization relating to the inpidual's goals, values, and attitudes. From an analysis of the inpidual's style of structuring different experiences, from his free associations, his daydreams and dreams, and his responses to psychological tests, we may infer the content of a schema.

A depressed patient's ideation is marked by typically depressive

themes. As the depression deepens, his thought content is increasingly saturated with these ideas, even though there may be no logical connection between the actual situation and the interpretation. This cognitive impairment is due to idiosyncratic schemas which assume a dominant role in the thought processes of a depressed inpidual.

The systematic errors which lead to distortion of reality in depressed patients include arbitrary interpretation, selective abstraction, exaggeration, incorrect labeling, and overgeneralization. The orderly matching of stimulus and schema is upset by the intrusion of the overactive idiosyncratic schemas which displace the more appropriate schemas. As the idiosyncratic schemas become more active, they are evoked by stimuli less congruent with them; the reality situation is distorted to fit the schema. The patient loses control over his thinking processes and is unable to energize other more appropriate schemas.

In the milder stages of depressive illness, the patient may be able to view his negative thoughts with objectivity, but in the more severe stages, he finds it difficult to even consider the idea that his interpretations might be erroneous. This loss of objectivity may be explained by the fact that the stronger idiosyncratic schemas tend to interfere with the cognitive structures involved in reality-testing and reasoning. The activated schemas have a direct relationship to the affective response to a situation. If the content is relevant to being deserted, thwarted, undesirable, or negligent in one's duties, the schemas will produce, respectively, feelings of loneliness, frustration, humiliation, or guilt.

The formulation of a feedback model can provide a more complete explanation of depressive phenomena. This system operates as follows: An unpleasant life situation triggers schemas related to loss, negative expectancies, and self-blame. These schemas produce a stimulation of the affective structures connected to them once they are activated. The activation of the affective structures, in turn, further energizes the schemas to which they are connected. In phenomenological terms, the depressives negative ideation leads to sadness; he labels the sadness as a sign that his life is painful and hopeless. These negative interpretations of the affect further reinforce his negative attitudes. Hence, a vicious cycle is produced.

A cognitive formulation presented by Lichtenberg in 1957 hypothesized that depression is the result of felt hopelessness to achieve one's goals when the inpidual blames himself for the failure. In this case, hope was defined as "the perceived probability of success with respect to goal attainment." Lichtenberg believed that neurotic, agitated, and

retarded depressions were each related to a specific type of goal—an expectancy associated with the particular situation, an expectancy associated with a style of behavior, or an expectancy associated with a generalized goal. In each type of depression, the hopelessness is placed in the context of phenomena such as interpersonal relations, perceptions of secondary gains and losses, time perspective, and perception of personal responsibility.

## **Cognitive Studies of Depression**

Beck and Valin reported that ideas of self-punishment were extremely frequent in the delusions and hallucinations of psychotic depressives. A pilot study by Beck and Hurvich and a more comprehensive study by Beck and Ward revealed higher incidences of "masochistic dreams" in depressed patients than in non-depressed patients. These dreams were identified as those which included themes of thwarting, rejection, punishment, disappointment, injury, personal unattractiveness, etc.

Rather than ascribe these "masochistic dreams" to the Freudian notion of the patient's need to suffer, the conclusion of these studies was that the depressive actually pictured himself as a "loser." He regarded himself as deprived of an important source of gratification and as

defective in certain important attributes. It was also found that early memories, various self-ratings, and responses to pictorial stimuli were pervaded by the concept of loss. A Focused Fantasy Test presented sets of drawings in which one twin has a pleasant experience and the other is a "loser." Depressed patients identified more frequently with the "loser" twin than did a non-depressed group of patients.

Another study of self-concept in depression was conducted by Laxer," who showed that depressed patients were characterized by low self-esteem and self-blame. Laxer compared depressives with other psychiatric patients; depressives showed a lower self-concept on being admitted to a hospital, but their self-concept improved more at discharge. Plutchik et al. asked manic-depressive patients to describe their ideal self, their least-liked self and their normal self on a forced choice test of emotions. They found that the emotion profile for the depressed state correlated highly with the least-liked self.

One hypothesis derived from the work of Lichtenberg and Beck is that a successful experience will improve certain depressive symptoms such as low mood, pessimism, and low self-esteem. Loeb et ah, for example, devised a study which involved the manipulation of success and failure with a verbal task. After a success experience, the depressed group showed a greater increase in level of aspiration, level of mood, and

expectations of success, as compared with non-depressed subjects. In addition, the depressed group's scores on these indices decreased after failure. In a later study, it was reported that the depressed patients' performance on a subsequent task improved more after success than did the performance of non-depressed subjects.

When a depressed patient believes that he will fail in every undertaking, apathy sets in; thus, cognitive distortions may explain the motivational as well as emotional manifestations of depression. If the depressive sees himself as inept and unable to meet his responsibilities, he may engage in escapism or become overly dependent on others. Loeb et al. found that depressed patients who were led to believe that their performance on a given task was inferior to others were less motivated to volunteer for the experiment again. The lack of motivation may also be related to psychomotor retardation.

The existence of a thinking disorder in depression has been supported by systematic studies. Two such studies demonstrated an impairment of abstract conceptualization, while Neuringer pointed out rigid thinking in depressives. The tendency of depressed inpiduals to think in bipolar opposites (dichotomous thinking) was also reported by Neuringer.' The concept that the depressed patient has a negative view of the future and low self-esteem was supported by a systematic study. These negative concepts disappeared when the patient recovered from his depression. Melges and Bowlby reported time constriction in depression, and more recently, Melges et al. have reported a high correlation between self-esteem and optimism.

## **Behavioral Theories of Depression**

Behaviorally oriented writers have only recently presented their concepts of depression. Ferster asserted that the loss of a "significant other" causes a sudden reduction in the output of behavior and a decreased rate of positive reinforcement. He also observed the tendency of depressives to restrict the number of persons with whom they interact; this tendency makes the depressed inpidual especially vulnerable to the loss of a loved person or object.

Lazarus proposed that depressions which could not be explained by learning theory principles are probably organic in nature. He viewed depression as a "function of inadequate or insufficient reinforcers." Thus, therapy should help the depressive to take advantage of all available reinforcers or provide a change in the reinforcement schedule. This recommendation is similar to an approach outlined by Burgess; the therapy is based on the S-R model and has as its goal the extinction of depressive behavior.

According to Patterson and Rosenberry, an inpidual is predisposed to depression if he lacks social skills. Since he has fewer available sources of reinforcement, loss of a source is a greater deprivation for him than for the socially skilled person. In addition, the inpidual lacking in social skills finds it more difficult to replace a lost reinforcer.

Personal characteristics, such as a lack of social skills, or environmental factors may cause the low rate of positive reinforcement, according to a recent study. Testing the hypothesis that depressed inpiduals are lacking in social skills, the authors reported that depressed inpiduals interact with fewer people than do non-depressed inpiduals; depressives also emit shorter messages which are often timed inappropriately. A therapeutic approach was designed by these researchers to positively reinforce constructive behaviors and social skills, while negatively reinforcing depressive behaviors.

Ullmann and Krasner view depression as occurring when previously reinforced behavior no longer results in reinforcement. For example, when a person ages, his role status changes and his rate of positive reinforcement is reduced. The claim that depressive behavior

itself stimulates positive reinforcement in the form of kindness and sympathy is contradictory to the position that depressive behavior alienates other people.

The behavior theorists have been criticized for their neglect of the subjective components of depression, such as sadness, hopelessness, and suicidal wishes. In addition, much of the data used to substantiate various behavioral concepts has been contradictory. In general, behavior theory has been applied only to limited aspects of the phenomena of depression.

## Sociological and Demographic Aspects of Depression

#### Sex

Most studies have shown that depression is approximately twice as frequent in females than in males. Recent studies have revealed that the peak years for women with reactive depression are earlier than those for men and occur prior to menopause. In terms of endogenous depression, Watts found the peak age for women to be concurrent with the menopause, while in men it appears much later.

In a study with medical inpatients, it was found that only slightly more females are depressed and that definite sex-related profiles of

depression emerge. Findings indicated that females tend to somatize, while males refer more often to feelings of personal despair.

One interesting feature of studies which attempt to relate depression and sex is that depression is more common in women, but that suicide is more frequent in men. High morbidity with low mortality in women, and low morbidity with high mortality in men has been observed in other health fields.

#### Age

Traditionally, depression has been considered an illness of the middle-aged and elderly. It is thought to be rare in infancy and childhood, first appearing clinically in adolescence, reaching its greatest proportions in middle years, and declining to some extent in the later years. In recent years, however, greater attention is being paid to depression in young adults because of a rising suicide rate in persons of this age.

Although depression is thought to occur more frequently in older persons, Redlich and Freedman wrote that depression may be found in all age groups and is not uncommon in young adults. Other studies have found the peak age for reactive depression to be between twenty-six and forty. The factor of age is important because it may influence the diagnosis of psychotic affective disorders and, thus, the reported age distributions of these conditions. Schizophrenia, for example, is often thought of as a disease afflicting younger persons, while depression is considered an ailment of the middle-aged and elderly.

### Race

Stainbrook noted that as far back as 1895 melancholia was relatively uncommon in blacks. In the 1963 fiscal year, reports from all mental hospitals, psychiatric clinics, and psychiatric services of general hospitals in Maryland showed the rates for all mental disorders *except* the affective disorders to be higher among blacks than among white groups.

There have been discrepancies in studies which compare rates of depression in whites and blacks. One found no great racial differences in depressed inpiduals of different races except for the low percentage of blacks with the depressed type of manic-depressive psychosis. Another studied 220 depressed patients in New Haven and found no significant difference in the incidence of depression among blacks and whites, nor in the symptomatology.

Prange compared the incidence of depression among blacks and

whites in the northern and southern United States, and found that southern Negroes have the lowest rates of all the groups. He believes that the incidence of depression in southern blacks will rise as urbanization and the disruption of local cultural patterns occur. McGough et al. studied the changing patterns of mental illness among blacks in the South and predicted a rise in reported frequency of depression as treatment facilities become more accessible to blacks.

## Social Class

Class studies of frequency of depression are relatively recent. Hollingshead and Redlich found that the psychotic depressions were two and a half times more frequent in the lower classes than in the upper, while neurotic depressions were twice as common in the upper. The Midtown Manhattan Study of symptom prevalence in the general population reported a consistent inverse correlation between social class and depressive illness.

## **Marital Status**

It is commonly thought that psychiatric disorders occur more frequently among the unmarried. However, most studies show that depression, unlike the other psychiatric illnesses, is more common in married inpiduals. In a study of neurotic depressive women in psychiatric hospitals, Briggs found that more were married than the general population. Schwab et al. found that depression was almost twice as frequent in the married as compared with the unmarried.

## Ethnic Group

It is important to be cautious in interpreting the vast amount of literature on mental illness in peoples of various cultures. Observations in these studies are often impressionistic and misleading because of discrepancies in form and content of mental conditions and also societal attitudes towards psychiatric disorders.

A study of the Hutterites is of particular interest because of the isolation of these colonies and the small degree of intermarriage. The Hutterites are an Anabaptist group with marked religious restrictions who live in the Dakotas and central Canada. The study found that manicdepressive illness was four times as frequent as schizophrenia in these communities. However, this high frequency may be due to inbreeding, which increases the chances of any genetic factors emerging. In addition, prevalence rates decreased significantly when cases active at the time of survey were separated from recovered cases.

Murphy et al. conducted a questionnaire survey of psychiatrists around the world. He concluded that the frequency of depression does

not appear to be related to religion, culture, social class, etc., but rather to the cohesiveness of the community. It must be noted, however, that the methodological shortcomings of this study make it extremely difficult to accept these findings.

Another ethnic study refers to the "air of mild depression that pervades Japanese life" and the high number of suicides in that country, most of which occur between the ages of fifteen and twenty-four.

Depressive disorder was thought to be virtually nonexistent on the African continent until the 1950s. In a review of the literature on the incidence of depression in various parts of Africa, Collomb found incidence rates which varied from 1.1 percent to 15 percent; the discrepancies are due to methodological differences in the studies.

A study of the Yoruba of western Nigeria found many of the symptoms of depression, even though the illness itself was unknown there. In Ghana, comparatively high rates of hospitalized manicdepressives, depressives, non-hospitalized depressives, and attempted suicides have been observed. Depression is also reported to be common in Ethiopia.

### **Biological Approaches to Depression**

Kraines has presented an elaborate theory which stresses the role of biological disorder in the development of depression. He infers that the frequency of depressive attacks in later life, and the occurrence of post-partum and premenstrual depressions are due to hormonal changes. In addition, a physiological basis is suggested because depression may occur in personalities that appear to be well-adjusted. The symptoms, onset, and course of the illness are basically identical in most patients, despite radical differences in culture, status, etc.

Other evidence that seems to confirm the possibility of biological disorder in depression consists in: (1) the beneficial results of physical therapies (ECT and drugs); (2) seasonal peaks of onset in the spring or fall; (3) the precipitation of depression in certain inpiduals by the administration of large doses of phenothiazines.

The role of the hypothalamus is central to Kraines's theory. Depression occurs when the cerebral cortex stimulates the hypothalamus, which in turn excites the somato-visceral system. The feedback from this system is further integrated in the thalamus and limbic system and stimulates the reticular system. The impulses terminate in the cerebral cortex. Kraines believes that mood is derived from this "emotional circuit" and that pathology of the hypothalamus is responsible for manic-depressive illness. Psychopathological symptoms are secondary in this theory, and are considered to be a defense induced by the physiopathology of the diencephalon.

Kraines's theory, however, is based on fragmentary and questionable evidence. Genetic studies have not clearly delineated the role of heredity in depression; no consistent hormonal abnormalities, except for steroid excretion, have been found; and much of his evidence may also be interpreted to support a psychogenic explanation of depression.

Despite the tremendous amount of research that has attempted to delineate the relationship between depression and biological disorder, there is little solid knowledge of the specific biological correlates of depression. Initial positive results have not been replicated in many cases, and methodological shortcomings often cast doubt on the original findings.

Some studies have been concerned with depression and autonomic function. Funkenstein demonstrated a relationship between depression and blood pressure reactivity by measuring the response in blood pressure to an injection of Mecholyl. However, more precise measures, proper controls, and blind ratings are necessary before these findings can be unequivocally accepted. Other studies have been conducted to determine whether there is any evidence of a decrease in salivary secretion among depressed inpiduals.'' While most of these findings were positive, longitudinal studies show a discrepancy; once again, better controls are needed to fully interpret the results.

In the area of neurophysiology, one group of studies has attempted to determine the sedation threshold of depressed patients. This work has yielded contradictory data, and no solid evidence has supported the hypothesis that there is a significant difference between the sedation thresholds of neurotic and psychotic depressives.

Electromyograph (EMG) studies measured the muscle action of depressed patients and found that mute and retarded patients show increased muscular activity. In contrast, Rimon et al. found an inverse correlation between muscle tension and severity of depression. Larger samples and control for age are necessary before definite conclusions may be reached.

Studies of the sleep EEG's of depressed patients show that they tend to have excessive periods of light or restless sleep, a shorter period of total sleep, and are more sensitive to noise when asleep. These studies are hampered by the use of normal controls instead of non-depressed

psychiatric patients and the small number of patients used in each study.

Contradictory results have been obtained in studies of the reactivity of the central nervous system in depression. EEG arousal response studies' found an increased threshold for external stimulation during depression and a reduction in the threshold on recovery. Many of these findings have methodological inadequacies, and their findings have been contradicted by one study.

There is some evidence that genetics may predispose an inpidual to depression. By examining the rates of depression among pairs of identical twins, Kallmann found that 22 of 23 twins of patients with manic-depressive illness were also diagnosed as manic-depressive. However, the usefulness of this study is decreased by methodological problems. Slater found a 57 percent concordance rate for fraternal twins, but his sample was even smaller than Kallmann's. Shields compared identical twins reared together with those reared separately. He found that concordance rates for the separated and non-separated twins were the same for cyclothymic features, anxiety traits, emotional lability, and rigidity, though none of his results were significant statistically.

Another technique used to determine the influence of heredity in affective disorder is to assess the incidence of the illness in children of

psychotic parents. Elsasser found that 33 of 47 children of such parents were normal. However, since his cases were drawn from a wide variety of sources, the diagnoses are inconsistent and consequently unreliable.

Family studies have also been used to determine the role of genetics in depression. Stenstedt found a 15 percent incidence of manicdepressive illness in the parents, siblings, and children of 288 manicdepressive patients. The estimated morbidity risk for the general population was 1 percent. Winokur found that alcoholism and affective disorder were significantly more frequent in the first-generation relatives of patients with affective disorder than in a group of controls. Comparing patients whose families had a history of affective illness, Winokur found that almost all of the manic patients belonged to the former group. He also found that daughters of depressed mothers were more likely than sons to be depressed. No such finding occurred in the sons or daughters of depressed fathers.

# **Biochemical Studies**

The study of the biochemistry of depression has been difficult because the tissue of interest—the brain of the depressed inpidual cannot be chemically examined. Instead, concentrations of compounds active in brain metabolism must be indirectly estimated by measuring their concentrations in body fluids, usually urine or blood. Many tissues other than the brain contribute to the total concentration of the compounds of interest in body fluids, and thus urine or blood levels do not necessarily offer an accurate index of the amounts of these compounds in the central nervous system.

In general, when a biochemical basis is sought for a particular disorder, it is expected that there will be a single, unique biochemical explanation. In work on the biochemistry of depression, this assumption has tacitly not been made. Studies in the field have not sought (nor found) a "depressed range" for some biochemical parameter in which all inpiduals diagnosed as depressed will score, and in which normal control groups will not score. Rather, these studies have looked for overlapping depressed-normal ranges in which there is nonetheless a statistically significant difference between the two groups for the particular parameter. Such statistically significant differences in overlapping ranges clearly do not offer an immediate possibility for a unique biochemical explanation of depression. However, searching for statistical biochemical differences seems both valid and necessary at this time, given the possible heterogeneity of disorders and diagnostic categories in depression, and the statistical (rather than consistent) effectiveness of antidepressant drugs.

The most extensive work done in recent years on the biochemistry of depression has attempted to test the "catecholamine hypothesis." This hypothesis proposes that in depression there is a depletion of catecholamines (particularly norepinephrine) functioning at adrenergic receptor sites in the brain. In mania, functional brain catecholamine levels are hypothesized to be elevated. The catecholamine hypothesis was originally suggested on the basis of studies of the biochemical effects of antidepressant drugs (MAO inhibitors, tricyclics) in animals. A very considerable amount of data has now been collected on catecholamine levels in humans.

Urinary excretion studies have resulted in a variety of findings. Early studies showed that urinary norepinephrine and epinephrine were lowered in depression. However, Curtis et al. found increased norepinephrine levels in depressed patients (though mainly those with agitated or anxious depressions). Similarly, Bunney et al. found elevated urinary norepinephrine in psychotic but not neurotic depression. Normetanephrine and 3-methoxy-4-hydroxy-phenylglycol (MHPG), two metabolic products of norepinephrine, were shown to be low in the urine of depressed patients and to increase as the depression improved.

*Plasma concentrations* of catecholamines were measured by a sensitive new technique in a recent study. It presented convincing data

that plasma levels of catecholamines correlated well with anxiety ratings for the patient, but the correlation with depression ratings was not significant. Epinephrine has not been found in the brain of humans, and norepinephrine does not cross the blood-brain barrier in either direction. Thus, the measurement of epinephrine and norepinephrine in the blood or urine probably has little relevance to the catecholamine hypothesis, which states that catecholamines are depleted in the central nervous system. The levels of normetanephrine or MHPG in urine may or may not reflect central nervous system noradrenaline turnover, so these levels (which are decreased in depression) are also of unproved relevance.

Concentrations of noradrenaline have been determined in the *cerebrospinal fluid* by Dencker et al. Their study did not present a statistical treatment of the data, but did show a mean noradrenaline level in depressed patients three times higher than the mean in a control group. (The control group of four subjects was unfortunately small).

Post-mortem examination of the brains of inpiduals committing suicide has been done by two different groups. Both groups found noradrenaline levels in the suicides comparable to those in the same brain areas of control groups that had died of a variety of physical illnesses. Bourne et al. discuss limited reasons to believe that amine

levels have not changed drastically from the moment of death to the time of assay (an average of six months), but neither study presents convincing arguments that body storage, brain removal, freezing, longterm storage, and thawing of brain samples do not significantly alter noradrenaline concentrations.

Precursor administration to depressed patients has been attempted in the thorough study by Goodwin et al. The immediate precursor of brain catecholamines is L-DOPA, an amino acid which can cross the blood-brain barrier. L-DOPA has been successfully used in the treatment of Parkinson's disease, in which dopamine levels are known to be lowered. In the experiments of Goodwin et al. only 4 of 16 depressed patients showed clinical improvement on high doses of L-DOPA, and one of these may have undergone spontaneous remission. The authors suggest that the improvement may have been the result of L-DOPA causing psychomotor activation. They also point out that on the basis of animal studies, even the high dosage of L-DOPA they gave the patients might be expected to change centrally functioning noradrenaline levels only slightly. Dopamine levels would be raised to a greater extent, but in some part the dopamine increase might be localized in capillary walls. Thus, there are also expected weaknesses in this method (precursor load) of examining the catecholamine hypothesis.

In summary, the catecholamine hypothesis is difficult to definitively test. Measurements have been made of catecholamines (and their metabolic products) in blood, urine, cerebrospinal fluid, and stored brain slices. However, the relationship of these measurements to the actual concentration of catecholamines functioning as neurotransmitter in the brain has not been established.

The catecholamine hypothesis has given rise directly to two other important lines of research. The first concerns urinary concentrations of the nucleotide cyclic 3', 5'-adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) in depressed patients. Catecholamines are known in many tissues to activate the enzyme adenyl cyclase which catalyzes the production of cAMP. A recent study has shown that cAMP levels in urine are statistically low in severely depressed patients and high in manic patients. Furthermore, the values return toward normal upon clinical improvement. The same group of authors has also reported that urinary cAMP dramatically rose in seven patients on the day of a switch from depression to mania. They suggest that rapid cAMP elevation may be a "trigger" for a sustained metabolic process responsible for mania. Although these authors claim that physical activity does not significantly affect urinary cAMP concentrations, this point is controversial. Furthermore, it is unknown to what extent urinary cAMP levels reflect central nervous system cAMP levels. Another group has reported normal

cAMP concentration in the cerebrospinal fluid from depressed and manic patients.

Some investigators, considering that imipramine and MAO inhibitors increase other amine levels, have broadened the catecholamine hypothesis to a more general hypothesis, relating depleted transmitter amines of several kinds to depressed mood. In particular, many of the studies examining catecholamine levels have also measured indoleamine concentrations.

In the urine, 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA) levels are decreased in agitated depressions, and increased in retarded depressions and in manic conditions. However, much urinary 5-HIAA is known to come from the gastrointestinal tract and diet would be an important factor in these studies.

In cerebrospinal fluid, Dencker et al. and Ashcroft et al. reported a lowered level of 5-HIAA in a depressed group compared to a normal group. However, Ashcroft et al. were very careful in interpreting this difference, noting that a five-fold concentration gradient of 5-HIAA in the CSF made sampling difficult, and effects of physical activity could not be ruled out.

The post-mortem examination of brains of suicides was done for

indoleamines as well as noradrenaline. Pare et al. found that 5-HIAA levels were the same in the brains of the suicides compared to the controls, while there was a slight 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) decrease. They state that the 5-HT decrease is possibly accountable for by suicide-control age differences. Bourne et al. found the opposite; lowered 5-HIAA levels and the same 5-HT levels in the suicide group compared to controls.

It is difficult to reach any strong conclusion on indoleamine metabolism in depression at this time, because of the contradictory findings and the same complexities of interpretation associated with the catecholamine data.

Recent contributions on the role of corticosteroids in depression have been reviewed by Sachar, Coppen and Shopsin and Gershon. The main steroids studied have been limited to 1 x-hydroxycorticosteroids and 17-hydroxycorticosteroids; plasma and urine determinations of their levels in depression and mania have been made. There is controversy surrounding two central points: Are there abnormally high levels of corticosteroids in depression, and does cortisol synthesis in depression respond normally to hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal feedback as measured by "dexamethasone suppression"? (The steroid analogue dexamethasone when ingested by normal subjects lowers their level of plasma cortisol measured nine hours later.) Shopsin and Gershon take the position that though many studies have found elevated plasma or urinary corticosteroids in a depressed population compared to normal, this elevation is not large and can probably be attributed to general stress and anxiety suffered by the patients. Stress will also cause shortterm elevations in normal subjects. Sachar and Coppen echo the view that elevated corticosteroid levels found in most studies of depression are a nonspecific aspect of the condition related to stress. Shopsin and Gershon found normal dexamethasone suppression of plasma cortisol in depressed patients and are unable to explain why Carrol et al. had found that half the patients in their depressed sample did not show normal dexamethasone suppression.

## **Bibliography**

- Abraham, K. "Notes on Psychoanalytic Investigation and Treatment of Manic-Depressive Insanity and Allied Conditions," in *Selected Papers on Psychoanalysis*, pp. i37-156. New York: Basic Books, i960.
- ----. "The First Pregenital Stage of the Libido," in *Selected Papers on Psychoanalysis*, pp. 248-279. New York: Basic Books, i960.
- ----. "A Short Study of the Development of the Libido," in *Selected Papers on Psychoanalysis,* pp. 418-501. New York: Basic Books, 1960.
- Abraham, M. J., and F. A. Whitlock. "Childhood Experience and Depression," *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 115 (1969), 883-888.

- Ackner, B., and G. Pampiglione. "An Evaluation of the Sedation Threshold Test," *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 3 (i959). 271-281.
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual: Mental Disorders. Washington, D.C.: 1952.
- Ashcroft, G. W., T. B. B. Crawford, D. Eccleston, D. F. Sharman, D. J. MacDougall, J. B. Stanton, and J. K. Binnis. "5-hydroxyindole Compounds in Cerebrospinal Fluid of Patients with Psychiatric or Neurological Diseases," *Lancet*, 2 (1966), 1049-1052.
- Beck, A. T. "A Systematic Investigation of Depression," *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 2 (1961), 162-170.
- ----. "Thinking and Depression: l. Idiosyncratic Content and Cognitive Distortions," Archives of General Psychiatry, 9 (1963). 324-333-
- ----. Depression: Clinical, Experimental, and Theoretical Aspects. New York: Paul B. Hoeber, Inc., 1967.
- ----. "The Core Problem in Depression: The Cognitive Triad," *Science and Psychoanalysis*, 17 (1970), 47-55.
- ----. "Cognition, Affect, and Psychopathology," *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 24 (1971), 495-500.
- Beck, A. T., and M. S. Hurvich. "Psychological Correlates of Depression. 1. Frequency of 'Masochistic' Dream Content in a Private Practice Sample," *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 21 (1959), 50-55.
- Beck, A. T., B. B. Sethi, and R. W. Tuthill. "Childhood Bereavement and Adult Depression," Archives of General Psychiatry, 9 (1963), 295-302.
- Beck, A. T., and S. Valin. "Psychotic Depressive Reaction in Soldiers Who Accidentally Killed Their Buddies," *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 110 (i953). 347-353.

- Beck, A. T., and C. H. Ward. "Dreams of Depressed Patients: Characteristic Themes in Manifest Content," *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 5 (1961), 462-467.
- Beck, A. T., C. H. Ward, M. Mendelson, J. Mock, and J. Erbaugh. "An Inventory for Measuring Depression," *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 4 (1961), 561-571.
- Bibring, E. "The Mechanism of Depression," in P. Greenacre, ed., Affective Disorders, pp. 13-48. New York: International Universities Press, 1953.
- Birk, A. "The Bereaved Child," Mental Health, 25 (1966), 9-11.
- Bjerg, K. "The Suicidal Life Space," in S. Shneidman, ed., *Essays in Self-Destruction*, pp. 475-494. New York: Science House, 1967.
- Böök, J. A. "A Genetic and Neuropsychiatric Investigation of a North Swedish Population with Special Regard to Schizophrenia and Mental Deficiency," Acta Geneticae Medicae, 4 (1953), 1-100.
- Bourne, H. R., W. E. Bunney, Jr., R. W. Colburn, J. M. Davis, J. N. Davis, D. M. Shaw, and A. J. Coppen. "Noradrenaline, 5-hydroxyindoleacetic Acid in Hindbrains of Suicidal Patients," *Lancet*, 2 (1968), 805-808.
- Breed, W. "Suicide and Loss in Social Interaction," in E. S. Shneidman, ed., Essays in Self-Destruction, pp. 188-203. New York: Science House, 1967.
- Briggs, P. F. "Working Outside the Home and the Occurrence of Depression in Middle-aged Women," *Mental Hygiene*, 49 (1965). 438-442.
- Brill, N. Q., and E. H. Liston, Jr. "Parental Loss in Adults with Emotional Disorders," *Archives* of General Psychiatry, 14 (1966), 307-314.
- Brown, F. "Depression and Childhood Bereavement," *Journal of Mental Science*, 107 (1961), 754-777.
- Bunny, W. E., Jr., J. M. Davis, H. Weil-Malherbe, and E. R. B. Smith. "Biochemical Changes in Psychotic Depression: High Norepinephrine Levels in Psychotic vs. Neurotic

Depression," Archives of General Psychiatry, 16 (1967), 448-460.

- Burgess, E. P. "The Modification of Depressive Behaviors," in R. Rubin and C. Franks, eds., *Advances in Behavior Therapy*, 1968, pp. 193-199. New York: Academic Press, 1969.
- Busfield, B. L., and H. Wechsler. "Studies of Salivation in Depression: A Comparison of Salivation Rates in Depressed, Schizoaffective Depressed, Nondepressed Hospitalized Patients, and in Normal Controls," *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 4 (1961), 10.
- Campbell, J. D. Manic-Depressive Disease. Philadelphia: Lippincott, 1953.
- Carney, M. W. P., M. Roth, and R. F. Garside. "The Diagnosis of Depressive Symptoms and the Prediction of ECT Response," *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 111 (1965), 659-674.
- Carroll, B. J., F. I. R. Martin, and B. Davies. "Resistance to Suppression by Dexamethasone of Plasma 11-OHCS Levels in Severe Depressive Illness." *British Medical Journal*, 3 (1968), 285-287.
- Cassidy, W. L., N. B. Flanagan, and M. Spellman. "Clinical Observations in Manic-Depressive Disease: A Quantitative Study of 100 Manic-Depressive Patients and 50 Medically Sick Controls," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 164 (i957). 1535-1546.
- Caudill, W., and L. T. Doi. "Psychiatry and Culture in Japan," in I. Goldston, ed., *Man's Image in Medicine and Anthropology.* New York: International Universities Press, 1963.
- Clyde, D. J. Clyde *Mood Scale Manual*. Coral Gables, Fla.: University of Miami, Biometrics Laboratory, 1963.
- Cohen, B. M., and R. E. Fairbank. "Statistical Contributions from Mental Hygiene Study of Eastern Health District of Baltimore," *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 94 (1938), 1377-1395.

- Collomb, H. "Methodological Problems in Cross-Cultural Research," *International Journal of Psychiatry*, 3 (1967), 17-19.
- Coppen, A. "Pituitary-Adrenal Activity During Psychosis and Depression," *Progress in Brain Research*, 32 (1970), 336-342.
- Costello, C. G., and A. L. Comrey. "Scales for Measuring Depression and Anxiety," *Journal of Psychology*, 66 (1967), 303-313.
- Cropley, A. J., and T. E. Weckowicz. "The Dimensionality of Clinical Depression," Australian Journal of Psychology, 18 (1966), 18-25.
- Curtis, G. C., R. A. Cleghorn, and T. L. Sourkes. "The Relationship Between Affect and the Excretion of Adrenaline, Noradrenaline, and 17-Hydroxycorticosteroids," *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 4 (i960), 176-184.
- Davies, B. M., and J. B. Gurland. "Salivary Secretion in Depressive Illness," Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 5 (1961), 269-271.
- Delay, J., P. Pichot, T. Lemperiere, and R. Mirouze. "La Nosologie des Etats Depressifs. Rapport entre l'Etiologie et la Semiologie. 2. Résultats du Questionnaire de Beck," L'Encéphale, 52 (1963), 497-505.
- Dencker, S. J., J. Haggendal, and U. Malm. "Noradrenaline Content of Cerebrospinal Fluid in Mental Diseases," *Lancet*, 2 (1966), 754.
- Doncker, S. J., U. Malm, B. E. Ross, and B. Werdinius. "Acid Monoamine Metabolites of Cerebrospinal Fluid in Mental Depression and Mania," *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 13 (1966), 1545-1548.
- Dennehy, C. M. "Childhood Bereavement and Psychiatric Illness," British Journal of Psychiatry, 112 (1966), 1049-1069.
- Depression and Suicide in Adolescents and *Young Adults*. Proceedings of a Conference at Bonnie Oaks Lodge, Fairlee, Vt., June 6-8, 1966. A Technical Assistance Project sponsored by three northern New England states and the NIMH.

- Diaz-Guerrero, R., J. S. Gottlieb, and J. R. Knott, "The Sleep of Patients with Manic-Depressive Psychosis, Depressive Type: An Electroencephalographic Study," *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 8 (1946), 399-404.
- Dorn, H. F. "Some Problems for Research in Mortality and Morbidity," *Public Health Reports*, 71 (1956), 1-5.
- Driver, M. V., and M. D. Eilenberg. "Photoconvulsive Threshold in Depressive Illness and the Effect of ECT," *Journal of Mental Science*, 106 (1960), 611-617.
- Eaton, J. W., and R. J. Weil. *Culture and Mental Disorders: A Comparative Study of the Hutterites and Other Populations.* Glencoe, Ill.: Free Press, 1955.
- Elsasser, G. "Ovarial Function and Body Constitution in Female Inmates of Mental Hospitals; Special Reference to Schizophrenia," *Archives of Psychiatry*, 188 (1952), 218.
- Engel, G. "A Life Setting Conducive to Illness: The Giving-Up—Given-Up Complex," *Bulletin* of the Menninger Clinic, 32 (1968). 355-365-
- Essen-Moller, E. "Inpidual Traits and Morbidity in a Swedish Rural Population," Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, Suppl. 100 (1956), 1-160.
- Faris, R. E. L., and H. W. Dunham. Mental Disorders in Urban Areas: An Ecological Study of Schizophrenia and Other Psychoses. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1939.
- Fenichel, O. The Psychoanalytic Theory of Neurosis. New York: Norton, 1945.
- Ferster, C. B. "Classification of Behavioral Pathology," in L. Krasner and L. P. Ullmann, eds., *Research in Behavioral Modification*, pp. 6-26. New York: Holt, 1965.
- Forrest, A. D., R. H. Fraser, and R. G. Priest. "Environmental Factors in Depressive Illness," British Journal of Psychiatry, in (1965)-243-253.
- Freud, S. "Mourning and Melancholia" (1917), in *Collected Papers*, Vol. 4. pp. 152-172. London: Hogarth Press, 1950.

Friedman, A. S. Personal Communication, 1966.

- Friedman, A. S., B. Cowit, H. W. Cohen, and S. Granick. "Syndromes and Themes of Psychotic Depression," *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 9 (1963), 504-509.
- Funkenstein, D. H. "Discussion of Chapters 10-11: Psychophysiologic Studies of Depression: Some Experimental Work," in P. H. Hoch and J. Zubin, eds., *Depression*. New York: Grune and Stratton, 1954.
- Gay, M. J., and W. L. Tonge. "The Late Effects of Loss of Parents in Childhood," British Journal of Psychiatry, 113 (1967), 753-760.
- Gaylin, W. The Meaning of Despair: Psychoanalytic Contributions to the Understanding of Depression. New York: Science House, 1968.
- Gillespie, R. D. "Clinical Differentiation of Types of Depression," *Guy Hospital Report*, 79 (1929), 306-344.
- Glowinski, J., I. J. Kopin, and J. Axelrod. "Metabolism of H-Norepinephrine in the Rat Brain," Journal of Neurochemistry, 12 (1965), 25-30.
- Goldstein, I. G. "The Relationship of Muscle Tension and Autonomic Activity to Psychiatric Disorders," *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 27 (1965), 39-52.
- Goldstein, R. H., and L. F. Saltzman. "Cognitive Functioning in Acute and Remitted Psychiatric Patients," *Psychological Reports*, 21 (1967), 24-26.
- Goodwin, F. K., D. L. Murphy, H. K. H. Brodie, and W. E. Bunny, Jr. "L-Dopa, Catecholamine, and Behavior: A Clinical and Biochemical Study in Depressed Patients," *Biological Psychiatry*, 2 (1970), 341-366.
- Gottlieb, G., and G. Paulson. "Salivation in Depressed Patients," *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 5 (1961), 468-471.
- Greenspan, K., J. J. Schildkraut, E. K. Gordon, L. Baer, M. S. Aronoff, and J. Durell. "Catecholamine Metabolism in Affective Disorders. III. MHPG and Other
Catecholamine Metabolites in Patients Treated with Lithium Carbonate," *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 7 (1970), 171-183.

- Gregory, I. "Retrospective Data Concerning Childhood Loss by a Parent: II. Category of Parental Loss by Decade of Birth, Diagnosis, and MMPI," Archives of General Psychiatry, 15 (1966), 362-367.
- Gresham, S. C., H. W. Agnew, and R. L. Williams. "The Sleep of Depressed Patients: An EEG and Eye Movement Study," *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 13 (1965), 503-507.
- Grinker, R. R., J. Miller, M. Sabshin, R. Nunn, and J. C. Nunnally. The Phenomena of Depressions. New York: Harper and Row, 1961
- Hagnell, O. A Prospective Study of the Incidence of Mental Disorder. Lund: Svenska Bokforlaget Norstedts, 1966.
- Hamilton, M. "A Rating Scale for Depression," Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery is Psychiatry, 23 (i960), 56-62.
- Hamilton, M., and J. M. White. "Clinical Syndrome in Depressive States," *Journal of Mental Science*, 105 (1959), 985-997.
- Harder, J. "The Psychopathology of Infanticide," *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 43 (1967), 196-245.
- Hathaway, S., and C. McKinley. *Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory*. New York: Psychology Corp., 1951.
- Helgason, T. "The Frequency of Depressive States in Iceland as Compared with the Other Scandinavian Countries," Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, Suppl. 162 (1962), 81-90.
- Hill, O. W., and J. S. Price. "Childhood Bereavement and Adult Depression," *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 113 (1967), 743-752.

- Hollingshead, A. B., and F. C. Redlich. *Social Class and Mental Illness: A Community Study*. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1958.
- Holmes, T. H., and R. H. Rahe. "The Social Readjustment Rating Scale," Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 11 (1967), 213-218.
- Hudgens, R. W., J. R. Morrison, and R. Barchha. "Life Events and Onset of Primary Affective Disorders," Archives of General Psychiatry, 16 (1967), 134-145.
- Hughes, C., M. Tremblay, R. Rapaport, and A. H. Leighton. People of Cove and Woodlot. *The Stirling County Study*, Vol. 2. New York: Basic Books, 1960.
- Humphrey, M. "Functional Impairment in Psychiatric Patients," *British Journal of Psychiatry,* 113 (1967), 1141-1151.
- Ivanys, W., S. Dzdkova, and J. Vana. "Prevalence of Psychoses Recorded Among Psychiatric Patients in a Part of the Urban Population," *Ceskoslovenká Psychiatrie*, 60 (1964), 152-163.
- Jacobson, E. "Contributions to the Metapsychology of Cyclothymic Depression," in P. Greenacre, ed., Affective Disorders, pp. 49-83. New York: International Universities Press, 1953.
- ----. "Transference Problems in the Psychoanalytic Treatment of Severely Depressive Patients," *Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association*, 2 (1954), 595-606.
- Kallmann, F. "Genetic Aspects of Psychoses," in *Biology of Mental Health and Disease*, pp. 283-302. New York: Hoeber, 1952.
- Kendell, R. E. *The Classification of Depressive Illnesses.* London: Oxford University Press, 1968.
- Kielhoz, P. "Diagnosis and Therapy of the Depressive State," Acta Psychosomatica Documenta Geigy, No. 1, American Series, 1959.

- Kiloh, L. G., and R. F. Garside. "The Independence of Neurotic Depression and Endogenous Depression," *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 109 (1963), 451-463.
- Klein, M. "A Contribution to the Psychogenesis of Manic-Depressive States (1934)," in Contributions to Psychoanalysis, 1Q21-1Q45, pp. 282-310. London: Hogarth Press, 1948.
- Kraepelin, E. "Manic-Depressive Insanity and Paranoia," R. M. Barclay, trans., Textbook of Psychiatry. Edinburgh: Livingstone, 1913.
- Kraines, S. H. Mental Depressions and Their Treatment. New York: Macmillan, 1957.
- ----. "Manic-Depressive Syndrome: a Diencephalic Disease." Presented at Annual Meeting of American Psychiatric Association, New York, May 6, 1965.
- Langner, T. S., and S. T. Michael. *Life Stress and Mental Health: The Midtown Manhattan Study.* New York: Free Press, 1963.
- gg. Laxer, R. M. "Self-Concept Changes of Depressive Patients in General Hospital Treatment," *Journal of Consulting Psychology*, 28 (1964a), 214-219.
- ----. "Relation of Real Self-Rating to Mood and Blame and Their Interaction in Depression," Journal of Consulting Psychology, 28 (1964b), 538-546.
- Lazare, A. "The Difference Between Sadness and Depression," *Medical Insight* (February 1970), pp. 23-31.
- Lazarus, A. "Learning Theory and the Treatment of Depression," *Behavior Research and Therapy*, 6 (1968), 83-89.
- Le Gassicke, J., W. Boyd, and F. McPherson. "A Controlled Out-Patient Evaluation with Fencamfamin," *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 110 (1964), 267-269.
- Lehmann, H. E. "Psychiatric Concepts of Depression: Nomenclature and Classification," Canadian Psychiatric Association Journal, Suppl. 4 (1959), S1-S12.

- Leighton, A. H. My Name is Legion. The Stirling County Study of Psychiatric Disorder and Sociocultural Environment, Vol. 1. New York: Basic Books, 1959.
- Leighton, A. H., T. A. Lambo, C. C. Hughes, D. C. Leighton, J. M. Murphy, and D. B. Macklin, *Psychiatric Disorder Among the Yoruba*. Ithaca, N.Y.: Cornell University Press, 1963.
- Leighton, A. H., J. S. Harding, D. B. Macklin, A. M. MacMillan, and A. H. Leighton, The Character of Danger: Psychiatric Symptoms in Selected Communities. The Stirling County Study of Psychiatric Disorder and Sociocultural Environment, Vol. 3. New York: Basic Books, 1963.
- Lemkau, P. V., C. Tietze, and M. Cooper, "Mental Hygiene Problems in an Urban District. 1. Description of the Study," *Mental Hygiene*, 25 (1941), 624-646.
- ----. "Mental Hygiene Problems in an Urban District. II. The Psychotics and the Neurotics," *Mental Hygiene*, 26 (1942), 100-119.
- Lewinsohn, P., M. Shaffer, and J. Libet. "A Behavioral Approach to Depression." Presented at the meetings of the American Psychological Association, University of Oregon, 1969.
- Lewis, A. "Melancholia: A Clinical Survey of Depressive States," *Journal of Mental Science*, 80 (1934), 277-378.
- Lichtenberg, P. "A Definition and Analysis of Depression," Archives of Neurology and Psychiatry, 77 (1957), 516-527.
- Lilienfeld, A. M. "Epidemiological Methods and Inferences in Studies of Noninfectious Diseases," *Public Health Reports*, 72 (1957), 51-60.
- Lin, T. "A Study of the Incidence of Mental Disorders in Chinese and Other Cultures," Psychiatry, 16 (1953), 313-336.
- Loeb, A., A. T. Beck, and J. C. Diggory. "Differential Effects of Success and Failure on Depressed and Non-depressed Patients," *Journal of Nervous and Mental*

Disease, 152 (1971), 106-114.

- Loeb, A., S. Feshbach, A. T. Beck, and A. Wolf. "Some Effects of Reward Upon the Social Perception and Motivation of Psychiatric Patients Varying in Depression," *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 68 (1964), 609-616.
- Lorr, M., R. L. Jenkins, and J. O. Hopsopple. "Multidimensional Scale for Rating Psychiatric Patients, Hospital Form," U.S. Veterans Administration Bulletin, TB 10-507, Veterans Administration, Washington, D.C.
- Lubin, B. "Adjective Checklist for Measurement of Depression," Archives of General Psychiatry, 12 (1965), 57-62.
- Lubin, B., V. A. Dupres, and A. W. Lubin. "Comparability and Sensitivity of Set 2 (Lists E, F, and G) of the Depression Adjective Checklists," *Psychological Reports*, 20 (1967), 756-758.
- Lundquist, G. "Prognosis and Course in Manic-Depressive Psychoses," *Acta Psychiatrica et Neurologica*, Suppl. 35.
- McGough, W. E., E. Williams, and J. Blackley. "Changing Patterns of Psychiatric Illness Among Negroes of the Southern United States," Sixth World Congress of Psychiatry, Madrid, Spain, 1966. Abstracts, International Congress Series No. 117. Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica.
- Malamud, W., and S. L. A. Sands, "A Revision of the Psychiatric Rating Scale," *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 104 (1947). 231-237.
- Maoz, M. D., S. Levy, N. Brand, and S. Halevi. "An Epidemiological Survey of Mental Disorders in a Community of Newcomers to Israel," *Journal of the College of General Practitioners*, 11 (1966), 267-284.
- May, A. E., A. Urquhart, and J. Tarran. "Self-Evaluation of Depression in Various Diagnostic and Therapeutic Groups," Archives of General Psychiatry, 21 (1969), 191-194.
- Melges, F. T., R. E. Anderson, H. C. Kraemer, J. R. Tinklenberg, and A. E. Weisz. "The Personal

Future and Self-Esteem," Archives of General Psychiatry, 25 (1971), 494-497.

- Melges, F. T., and J. Bowlby. "Types of Hopelessness in Psychological Process," Archives of General Psychiatry, 20 (1969), 690-699.
- Mendels, J. Concepts of Depression. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1970.
- Mendels, J., and C. Cochrane. "The Nosology of Depression: The Endogenous Reactive Concept," *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 124 (1968), Suppl., 1-11.
- Mendels, J., and D. R. Hawkins. "Sleep Studies in Depression," Proceedings of the Symposium on Recent Advances in the Psycho-biology of Affective Disorders. Bethesda, Md.: National Institute of Mental Health, 1970.
- Mendels, J., D. R. Hawkins, and J. Scott. "The Psychophysiology of Sleep in Depression." Presented at annual meeting of the Association for the Psychophysiological Study of Sleep, Gainesville, Fla., March, 1966.
- Mendelson, M. *Psychoanalytic Concepts of Depression.* Springfield, Ill.: Charles C Thomas, i960.
- Metcalfe, M., and E. Goldman. "Validation of an Inventory for Measuring Depression," *British Journal of Psychiatry*, m (1965), 240-242.
- Meyer, A. "The Problems of Mental Reaction Types (1908)," in *The Collected Papers of Adolf Meyer*, pp. 591-603. Baltimore, Md.: Johns Hopkins Press, 1951.
- Morrison, J. R., R. W. Hudgens, and R. Barchha. "Life Events and Psychiatric Illness," *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 114 (1968), 423-432.
- Motto, J. A. "Suicide Attempts: A Longitudinal View," Archives of General Psychiatry, 13 (1965), 516-520.
- Munro, A. "Parental Deprivation in Depressive Patients," British Journal of Psychiatry, 112 (1966), 443-457.

- ---. "Parent-Child Separation: Is It Really a Cause of Psychiatric Illness in Adult Life?" Archives of General Psychiatry, 20 (1969), 598-604.
- Murphy, H. G. M., E. D. Wittkower, and N. Chance. "Cross-Cultural Inquiry Into the Symptomatology of Depression: A Preliminary Report," *International Journal* of Psychiatry, 3 (1967), 6-22.
- National Institute of Mental Health, Biometry Branch, Public Health Service, U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. Unpublished data.
- Neuringer, C. "Dichotomous Evaluations in Suicidal Inpiduals," Journal of Consulting Psychology, 25 (1961), 445-449.
- ----. "Rigid Thinking in Suicidal Inpiduals," *Journal of Consulting Psychology*, 28 (1964), 54-58.
- ----. "The Cognitive Organization of Meaning in Suicidal Inpiduals," *Journal of General Psychology*, 76 (1967), 91-100.
- ----. "Divergencies Between Attitudes Towards Life and Death Among Suicidal, Psychosomatic, and Normal Hospitalized Patients," *Journal of Consulting Clinical Psychology*, 32 (1968), 59-63.
- Nussbaum, K., and W. W. Michaux. "Response to Humor in Depression: A Prediction and Evaluation of Patient Change?" *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 37 (1963), 527-539.
- Nymgaard, K. "Studies on the Sedation Threshold: A. Reproducibility and Effect of Drugs, B. Sedation Threshold in Neurotic and Psychotic Depression," Archives of General Psychiatry, 1 (1959), 530-536.
- Oswald, I., R. J. Berger, R. A. Jaramillo, K. M. G. Keddie, P. C. Olley, and G. B. Plunkett. "Melancholia and Barbiturates: A Controlled EEG, Body and Eye Movement Study of Sleep," *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 109 (1963), 66-78.
- Overall, J. E. "Dimensions of Manifest Depression," Psychiatric Research, 1 (1962), 239-245.

- Palmai, G., and B. Blackwell. "The Diurnal Pattern of Salivary Flow in Normal and Depressed Patients," *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 111 (1965), 334-338.
- Pare, C. M. B., D. P. H. Yeung, K. Price, and R. S. Stacey. "5-Hydroxytryptamine, Noradrenaline, and Dopamine in Brain Stem, Hypothalamus, and Caudate Nucleus of Controls and of Patients Committing Suicide by Coal Gas Poisoning," *Lancet*, 2 (1969), 133-135.
- Paskind, H. A. "Brief Attacks of Manic-Depressive Depression," Archives of Neurology and Psychiatry, 22 (1929), 123-134-
- ---. "Manic-Depressive Psychosis as Seen in Private Practice: Sex and Age Incidence of First Attacks," Archives of Neurology Psychiatry, 23 (1930a), 152-158.
- ----. "Manic-Depressive Psychosis in Private Practice: Length of Attack and Length of Interval," *Archives of Neurology and Psychiatry*, 23 (1930b), 789-794.
- Patterson, G., and C. Rosenberry. "A Social Learning Formulation of Depression." Unpublished Study.
- Paul, M. I., H. Cramer, and W. E. Bunney, Jr. "Urinary Adenosine 3', 5'-Monophosphate in the Switch Process from Depression to Mania," *Science*, 171 (1971), 300-303.
- Paul, M. I., J. Cramer, and F. K. Goodwin. "Urinary Cyclic AMP Excretion in Depression and Mania," Archives of General Psychiatry, 24 (1971), 327-333.
- Paulson, G. W., and G. Gottlieb. "A Longitudinal Study of the Electroencephalographic Arousal Response in Depressed Patients," *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 133 (1961), 524-528.
- Paykel, E. S. "Classification of Depressed Patients: A Cluster Analysis Derived Grouping," British Journal of Psychiatry, 118 (1971), 275-288.
- Paykel, E. S., J. K. Myers, M. N. Dienelt, G. L. Klerman, J. J. Lindenthal, and M. P. Pepper. "Life Events and Depression: A Controlled Study," *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 21 (1969), 753-760.

- Peck, R. E. "The SHP Test: An Aid in the Detection and Measurement of Depression," Archives of General Psychiatry, 1 (1959). 35-40.
- Pederson, A., D. Barry, and H. M. Babigian. "Epidemiological Considerations of Psychotic Depression," *Archives of General Psychiatry*, in press.
- Perris, C. "A Study of Bipolar (Manic-Depressive) and Unipolar Recurrent Depressive Episodes," *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 42 (Suppl.) (1966), 1-88.
- Pichot, P., and T. Lemperiere. "Analyse Factorielle d'un Questionnaire d'Autoevaluation des Symptomes Depressifs," *Revue de Psychologic Appliquée*, 14 (1964), 15-29-
- Pichot, P., J. Piret, and D. J. Clyde. "Analyse de la Symptomatologie Depressive Subjective," *Revue de Psychologie Appliquée*, 16 (1966), 103-115.
- Pinel, P. (1801). A Treatise on Insanity, trans. by D. D. David. New York: Hofner, 1962.
- Pitts, F. N., J. Meyer, M. Brooks, and G. Winokur. "Adult Psychiatric Illness Assessed for Childhood Parental Loss and Psychiatric Illness in Family Members," *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 121 (Suppl.) (1965), i-x.
- Plunkett, R. J., and J. E. Gordon. *Epidemiology and Mental Illness*. New York: Basic Books, 1960.
- Plutchik, R., S. R. Platman, and R. R. Fieve. "Self-Concepts Associated with Mania and Depression," *Psychological Reports*, 27 (1970), 399-405.
- Pokorny, A. D. "Suicide Rates in Various Psychiatric Disorders," *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 139 (1964), 499-506.
- Prange, W. A. "Cultural Aspects of the Relatively Low Incidence of Depression in Southern Negroes," *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 8 (1962), 104.
- Rado, S. "The Problem of Melancholia," *International Journal of Psycho-Analysis*, 9 (1928), 420-438.

- Rahe, R. H., and R. S. Arthur. "Life Change Patterns Surrounding Illness Experience," Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 11 (1968), 341-345.
- Rahe, R. H., J. D. McKean, and R. J. Arthur. "A Longitudinal Study of Life Change and Illness Patterns," *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 10 (1967), 355- 366.
- Raskin, A., J. Schulterbrandt, N. Reatig, and J. McKeon. "Replication of Factors of Psychopathology in Interview, Ward Behavior, and Self-Report Ratings of Hospitalized Depressives," *Journal of Nervous Mental Disease*, 148 (1967), 87-97.
- Raskin, A., J. Schulterbrandt, N. Reatig, and C. Rice. "Factors of Psychopathology in Interview, Ward Behavior, and Self-Report Ratings of Hospitalized Depressives," *Journal of Consulting Psychology*, 31 (1967), 270-278.
- Redlich, F. C., and D. X. Freedman. *The Theory and Practice of Psychiatry*. New York: Basic Books, 1966.
- Rennie, T. "Prognosis in Manic-Depressive Psychoses," The American Journal of Psychiatry, 98 (1942), 801-814.
- Rimon, R., A. Stenback, and E. Huhmar. "Electromyographic Findings in Depressive Patients," *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 10 (1966), 159-170.
- Robins, E., S. Gassner, J. Kayes, R. H. Wilkinson, and G. E. Murphy. "The Communication of Suicidal Intent: A Study of 134 Consecutive Cases of Successful (Completed) Suicide," *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 115 (1959), 724-733.
- Robison, G. A., A. J. Coppen, P. C. Whybrow, and A. J. Prange. "Cyclic AMP in Affective Disorders," *Lancet*, 1 (1970), 1028.
- Rosenthal, S., and G. L. Klerman. "Endogenous Features in Depressed Women," *Canadian Psychiatric Association Journal*, 11 (Special Suppl.) (1966), 11-16.
- Roth, W. F., and F. H. Luton. "Mental Health Program in Tennessee," *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 99 (1943), 662-675.

- Sachar, E. J. "Psychological Factors Relating to Activation and Inhibition of the Adrenocortical Stress Response in Man: A Review," Progress in Brain Research, 32 (1970), 316-324.
- Salkind, M. R. "Beck Depression Inventory in General Practice," *Journal of the Royal College* of General Practitioners, 18 (1967), 267.
- Salzman, L., R. Goldstein, H. Baloigian, and R. Atkins. "Conceptual Thinking in Psychiatric Patients," *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 14 (1966), 55-59.
- Sarwer-Foner, G. J. "A Psychoanalytic Note on a Specific Delusion of Time in Psychotic Depression," *Canadian Psychiatric Association Journal*, 2 (Special Suppl.) (ig66), S221-S228.
- Saul, L. J. Emotional Maturity. Philadelphia: Lippincott, 1947.
- Schildkraut, J. J. Neuropharmacology and *the Affective Disorders*. Boston: Little, Brown, and Co., 1970.
- Schildkraut, J. J., R. Green, E. K. Gordon, and J. Durell. "Normetanephrine Excretion and Affective State in Depressed Patients Treated with Imipramine," *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 123 (1966), 690-700.
- Schwab, J. J., M. R. Bialow, J. M. Brown, and C. E. Holzer. "Diagnosing Depression in Medical Inpatients," Annals of Internal Medicine, 67 (1967), 695-707.
- Schwab, J. J., J. M. Brown, and C. E. Holzer. "Depression in Medical Inpatients: Sex and Age Differences," *Mental Hygiene*, 52 (1968), 627-630.
- Schwab, J. J., J. M. Brown, C. E. Holzer, and M. Sokolof. "Current Concepts of Depression: The Sociocultural," *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, XIV (1968), 226-234.
- Schwab, J. J., R. S. Clemmons, B. Bialow, V. Duggan, and B. Davis. "A Study of the Somatic Symptomatology of Depression in Medical Inpatients," *Psychosomatics* 6 (1965), 273-277.

- Sethi, B. B. "Relationship of Separation to Depression," *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 10 (1964), 486-496.
- Shagass, C., J. Naiman, and J. Mihalik. "An Objective Test Which Differentiates Between Neurotic and Psychotic Depression," Archives of Neurology and Psychiatry, 75 (1956). 461-471.
- Shagass, C., and M. Schwartz. "Cerebral Cortical Reactivity in Psychotic Depressions," Archives of General Psychiatry, 6 (1962), 235-242.
- Shields, J. Monozygotic Twins Brought Up Apart and Brought Up Together. London: Oxford University Press, 1962.
- Shopsin, B., and S. Gershon. "Plasma Cortisol Response to Dexamethasone Suppression in Depressed and Control Patients," Archives of General Psychiatry, 24 (1971), 320-326.
- Silverman, C. The Epidemiology of Depression. Baltimore, Md.: Johns Hopkins Press, 1968.
- Sjögren, T. "Genetic-Statistical and Psychiatric Investigations of a West Swedish Population," *Acta Psychiatrica et Neurologica*, Suppl. 52 (1948).
- Slatter, E. "Psychiatric and Neurotic Illnesses in Twins," *Medical Research Council Special Report Series*, No. 278. London: Her Majesty's Stationery Office, 1953.
- Sørenson, A., and E. Stromgren. "Frequency of Depressive States Within Geographically Delimited Population Groups. Prevalence (The Samsø Investigation)," Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 37 (Suppl. 162) (1961), 62-68.
- Stainbrook, E. "A Cross-Cultural Evaluation of Depressive Reactions," in P. H. Hoch and J. Zubin, eds., *Depression*. New York: Grune and Stratton, 1954.
- Stenstedt, A. "A Study in Manic-Depressive Psychosis: Clinical, Social, and Genetic Investigations," Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, Suppl. 79 (1952).
- Strongin, E. I., and L. E. Hinsie. "Parotid Gland Secretions in Manic-Depressive Patients," The

American Journal of Psychiatry, 94 (1938), 1459.

- Temoche, A., T. F. Pugh, and B. Mac-Mahon. "Suicide Rates Among Current and Former Mental Institution Patients," *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 136 (1964), 124-130.
- Tonks, C. M., E. S. Paykel, and G. L. Klerman. "Clinical Depression among Negroes," *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 127 (1970), 329.
- Torrey, E. F., ed. *An Introduction to Health and Health Education in Ethiopia*. Addis Ababa: Berhanena Selam Printing Press, 1966.
- Ullmann, L. P., and L. Krasner. A *Psychological Approach to Abnormal Behavior*. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1969.
- Vatz, K. A., H. R. Winig, and A. T. Beck. "Pessimism and a Sense of Future Time Constriction as Cognitive Distortions in Depression." Mimeographed.
- Waldron, J., and T. J. N. Bates. "The Management of Depression in Hospital," *British Journal* of *Psychiatry*, 111 (1965), 511-516.
- Watts, C. A. *Discussion Two in Depression*. (Ed. by E. Beresford Davies.) Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1964, pp. 55-69.
- Weckowicz, T. E., W. Muir, and A. J. Cropley. "A Factor Analysis of the Beck Inventory of Depression," *Journal of Consulting Psychology*, 31 (1967), 23-28.
- Weckowicz, T. E., K. A. Yonge, A. J. Cropley, and W. Muir. "Objective Therapy Predictors in Depression: A Multivariate Approach," Monograph Suppl. No. 31, Clinical Psychology Publishing Co., Inc., 1971.
- Weinberg, S. K. "Cultural Aspects of Manic-Depression in West Africa," *Journal of Health and Human Behavior*, 6 (1965), 247-253.
- Wechsler, H., G. H. Grosser, and B. L. Busfield, Jr. "The Depression Rating Scale," Archives of General Psychiatry, 9 (1963), 334-343-

- Whatmore, G. B., and R. M. Ellis, Jr. "Some Neurophysiologic Aspects of Depressed States: An Electromyographic Study," *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 1 (1959). 70-80.
- ----. "Further Neurophysiologic Aspects of Depressed States: An Electromyographic Study," Archives of General Psychiatry, 6 (1962), 243-253.
- Whybrow, P. C., and J. Mendels. "Toward a Biology of Depression: Some Suggestions from Neurophysiology," *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 125 (1967), 1491-1500.
- Wilson, I. C., L. B. Alltop, and W. J. Buffaloe. "Parental Bereavement in Childhood: MMPI Profiles in a Depressed Population," *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 113 (1967), 761-764.
- Wilson, W. P., and N. J. Wilson. "Observations on the Duration of Photically Elicited Arousal Responses in Depressive Illness," *Journal of Nervous Mental Disease*, 133 (1961), 438-440.
- Winokur, G. "Genetic Principles in the Clarification of Clinical Issues in Affective Disorders," in A. J. Mandell and M. P. Mandell, eds., *Psychochemical Research in Man.* New York: Academic Press, 1969.
- Winokur, G. and F. Pitts, "Affective Disorder: 1. Is Reactive Depression an Entity?" Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 138 (1964), 541-547.
- Wittenborn, J. R. Wittenborn Psychiatric Rating Scales. New York: Psychological Corp., 1955.
- Wohlford, P. "Extension of Personal Time, Affective States, and Expectation of Personal Death," *Journal of Personal and Social Psychology*, 3 (1966), 559-566.
- Wyatt, R. J., B. Portnoy, D. J. Kupfer, Snyder, and K. Engelman. "Resting Plasma Catecholamine Concentrations in Patients with Depression and Anxiety," *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 24 (1971), 65-70.
- Yoo, P. S. "Mental Disorders in Korean Rural Communities," in *Proceedings of the Third World Congress of Psychiatry*, pp. 1305-1309. Montreal, Canada, 1961.

Zilboorg, G. A History of Medical Psychology, p. 67. New York: Norton, 1941.

- Zung, W. W. K. "A Self-Rating Depression Scale," *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 12 (1965), 63-70.
- Zung, W. W. K., W. P. Wilson, and W. E. Dodson. "Effect of Depressive Disorders on Sleep EEG Responses," *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 10 (1964), 439-445.